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residential. So for 12 year period that would be about
150, 180 residential transactions, not including
anything in the ICI field.

Q. And how many would have -- how many
transactions would you say since 1997 you have within
involved in, in this region that are not single-family
residential?

A. Again, i1f we go back to the 20, 15
are probably residential so there would be five could
fluctuate between 3 and 8 in any one particular year,
but say an average of five a year.

Q. All right. And just speaking of
the single-family residential for a moment, what type
of price range of properties are we talking about that
you are involved in for the transactions from '97
forward, can you give us a rough range?

A. Everything from a semi detached to
townhouse to single family, price ranges would run,
well it's varied so much greatly since 2004, prices
have gone up quite a bit the range would be a semi at
one point in time would have been worth 70, $75,000. I
have sold the highest residential probably about 500 --
no. I just, last week I sold one for 605. Sorry.

0. Good. ©Now, before we get to some

further details, if you could just hand you a copy of
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documents you are probably familiar with, report dated
February 5, 2008. Perhaps we can mark Mr. Berkhout's
CV as the next numbered exhibit.

THE COURT: Any concerns about that,
Mr. Lowenstein.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: No, your honour.

THE COURT: All right. The CV will be
the next exhibit.

THE REGISTRAR: Exhibit 29, your Honour.

EXHIBIT NO. 29: William Berkhout's

curriculum vitae

BY MR. BAERT:

Q. Now, sir, just so you understand
the process for the first part of this dealing with
your qualifications and then if you are qualified we
will get into the merits. So just ask you that keep
that in mind when we were dealing with the next few
questions. This your report, beginning at paragraph 7
you talk about the Niagara area real estate market.

A. Yes, sir.

0. And are you familiar with the
Niagara area real estate market?

A. I'm familiar through my involvement
for the past 34 years in all areas of the real estate

market in Niagara, but in particular the Font Hill,
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Welland and Port Colborne areas.

Q. And just dealing with the section
of your report starting at paragraph 9 about the Port
Colborne real estate market. You've said that you are
familiar with that market. Can you just briefly for
this part of the examination, explain the various
subpart of the Port Colborne real estate market and how
are you familiar with them?

A. Our whole MLS system goes on Port
Colborne east, Port Colborne west, Welland east,
Welland west, east, Fort Erie east, Fort Erie west.
All of those in the cataloguing system and inside of
Port Colborne there are subareas and, most subareas are
identified by distinct geographic or price range
parameters in order to facilitate the day-to-day
looking or dealing with real estate.

Q. And do you -- and have you sold
real estate in each of the component parts of the Port
Colborne real estate market over the last 34 years?

A. I divide Port Colborne into
approximately four areas, and I have sold in each one
of those areas at one time or rather, over my career,
and and it continues right from day one through the
last -- over the 34 years I did all four areas at one

time or other.
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0. Your Honour, those are all my
questions on the qualifications issues. I will be
asking that Mr. Berkhout to be qualified as an expert
in the Port Colborne and Welland real estate market.
Turn it over to my friend.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. LOWENSTEIN:

0. Good afternoon.
A. Mr. Lowenstein, how are you.
0. Fine, how are you. Mr. Berkhout I

take it from your sales volume and from your resume
that you are not a residential real estate specialist?

A. Everyone is a real estate,
residential real estate specialist. It's the ongoing
other areas that the board and the Canadian real estate
association has identified in the past 10 to 12 years
as additional things that you can do.

Q. Right. I'm simply pointing out
that in your work history 1987 to present on your CV,
Exhibit 29 you do not list residential real estate as
one of your specialities.

A. Those are the areas that I like to,
I would prefer to work in. Being the Niagara Penisula,
in particular Welland and Port Colborne, we can't

always have our wishes for commercial because it isn't
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a big market so residential I do a lot of. And I would
have to say that I am still a residential specialist
and knowledgeable in that area.

Q. All right. Even though it's not
one of the matters listed on your CV?

A. Normally I would not list that as a
specialty, no, sir.

Q. Right. And, in fact, as I
understand it, you have only been a listing agent or
the purchaser's agent for two single family residential
properties in Port Colborne or Welland over the last
three years?

A. I can think of -—— I sold two this
year. One last year. And I can't remember the year
before specifically. There are years where I sell 6 or
8 in Port Colborne. There are years I sell none in
Port Colborne.

Q. I hate to do this to you, sir, but

you recall we met earlier in your examination for

discovery?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. We asked you that question.
A. Yes.
0. And your counsel advised us the

answer and the answer was that you had only acted on
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two single family residential properties, and other
Port Colborne or Welland over the last three years.
A. At the time of my discovery, Port

Colborne and the sale this year had not sold.

0. All right. So there's one more?
A. Yes, sir.
0. And also Mr. Berkhout, am I correct

that you have not sold a house in the Rodney Street
area since 19987

A. That's probably correct, sir.

Q. Right. The only other issue I
would like to raise with you, sir, is you understand
that Mr. Baert is bringing you to the Court as an
expert?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you understand that an expert
has to be completely independent of the parties?

A. This is true.

0. And is it fair to say,

Mr. Berkhout, that you have family in Port Colborne
including your brother?

A. I have one brother out of five that
lives in Port Colborne, yes.

0. And he is a member of the class in

the lawsuit?
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A. I would suppose because it's
residential, and he lives in a house in Port Colborne,
yes, it is.

0. And we agreed once before he has

not opted out of the class?

A. I really have never asked him that,
sir. I do not know. I do not know.

Q. Well, you will accept it from that
he has not opted out of the class. You are not
nodding, sir. You have to say yes or no.

A. I am accepting what you are telling
me, sir.

Q. Thank you. And is it fair to say,

I think you told us that your brokerage has 31 agents?

A. That's correct.

0. Sales representatives. Yes?

A. Yes.

Q. And many of their clients and your

brokerage clients are owners of residential real estate
in Port Colborne.

A. I believe all of my salesmen own a
house, except for Kate Ostryhon who lives in Wainfleet,
owns a house in Port Colborne.

Q. Their customers frequently live in

Port Colborne and own houses?
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A. There are people that buy and sell
through our office in Port Colborne, yes.

0. In addition, Mr. Berkhout you'll
agree with me that your brother, Jack, is a developer
in Port Colborne?

A. Actually he has never developed in
Port Colborne other than severed the two lots one on

each side of his house.

Q. He's owned property in Port
Colborne?

A. Only his residential property, sir.

Q. Right. And your brother Jack has

had some not very favourable things to say about Inco

over the years.

A. Probably doesn't have much good to
say about counsel and a lot of other people, but -- he
is my brother. I can't control what he says.

Q. Actually, that's right, sir. But

your brother Jack has also criticized Inco for
contaminating his property back in 19997

A. During the discovery you showed me
a letter that, I had never seen it to that point. And
he asked them if they would pay for some of his costs
of doing soil samples in that letter.

Q. We will get to that. You'll agree
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with me that your brother was related to the Schirtzing
family who had a difficult relationship with Inco?

A. Actually they had quite a lucrative
relationship with Inco. Don't -- sorry, I didn't mean
to be facetious in that.

0. Oh no.

A. He is related. My sister-in-law is
a Schirtzing and grew up on a farm on Weaver Road which

is in the Port Colborne area.

Q. And they had a dispute with Inco?

A. My sister-in-law never had, no not
that farm.

Q. The Schirtzing family?

A. Her nephew.

Q. Right. You will agree with me your

brother is on record as blaming Inco for disease rates
in Port Colborne?

A. That I don't know, sir.

0. Okay.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: Your Honour, I'm quite
content for Mr. Berkhout to give us opinion evidence.
He is independence and detachment will be a matter
which will go to weight. For your Honour to determine
in the fullness of time.

THE COURT: Okay. Any re-examination,
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Mr. Baert?

MR. BAERT: Just one question.

RE-EXAMINATION

BY MR. BAERT:

Q. Mr. Berkhout, looking at your CV
again, the 31l-man office that you run with your partner
in Welland Port Colborne where does that rank in terms
of real estate brokerages in Welland Port Colborne and
Fort Erie?

A. In terms of number of sales
representatives telephones or in number of the market
share that we have?

Q. Why don't you tell us both.

A. Okay. Port Colborne normally ran
with 11 people. We let go two, three of them
transferred to another competitor so we have gone from
11 out of 26 people that reside and work in offices in
Port Colborne to six out of 26 at this present time.

Q. Does that make you the largest in
Port Colborne?

A. Not by, not by the number of sales
representatives.

Q. Yes.

A. And with the loss of three people

to our competitor, our market share has gone from about
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50 percent to 42 percent.

0. So your office is involved in 42
percent of the sales of residential real estate in Port
Colborne?

A. Yes, they are.

Q. Thank you. Those are my questions.

THE COURT: Could you be specific as to
the field of expertise that you are asking for
Mr. Berkhout to be qualified in?

MR. BAERT: Yes. I sought to have him
qualified as an expert in the Port Colborne, Welland
real estate market. Port Colborne and Welland.

THE COURT: That's very vague. I don't
know whether he is an accountant or a lawyer or a
salesman or what is he.

MR. BAERT: I'm sorry. He's sales
representative and broker. So it's from the point of
view of buying and selling real estate in the Port
Colborne and Welland real estate market, not from the
point of view of evaluating.

THE COURT: I will qualify Mr. Berkhout
as an expert in real estate sales in the Port Colborne
and Welland markets.

MR. BAERT: That's what I was attempting

to state, your Honour. Thank you.
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THE COURT: All right.

BY MR. BAERT:

0. Sir, we've marked your CV. Could
you identify for the Court the document with the tab in
it dated February 5, 2008. Did you prepare that
report, sir?

A. Yes, I did, sir.

0. Could we mark that as exhibit
number 23, sorry, 30.

THE COURT: The report will be marked as

exhibit 30.

THE REGISTRAR: Thank you, your Honour.
Exhibit 30.

EXHIBIT NO. 30: Report of Bill Berkhout

BY MR. BAERT:

Q. Now, sir, i1f we could just turn to
your report. This is not the first time, as you set

out in paragraph 1 that you've given evidence in this

action.

A. That's correct, sir. I've filed
two affidavits. The first one was in 2002.

0. And that was with respect to the

certification motion.
A. I believe that's the circumstances

of it, vyes.
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Q. Yes. And you say in paragraph 2
that your opinion as of now is very —-- as changed
little since 2002.

A. That's correct, sir.

Q. And portions of this report in
effect track what you said in 2002.

A. Most of it is fairly close to 2002,
yes.

Q. Yes. Let's just go through a
little more in your professional and personal
background that you set out. You were born and raised
in Port Colborne I believe you said you lived there

until you were 1672

A. Yes, sir.
0. And we've used these various
regions in Port Colborne. Can you tell his Honour

which part of Port Colborne you lived in during that

first 16 years.

A. It would be rural east Port
Colborne. Lived in a hamlet called Shirkston.

0. And you live in Welland now?

A. Yes, I do, sir.

Q. And you've lived there since you

returned from university?

A. That's correct.
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Q. And in preparing this report, you
set out in paragraph 6 that you reviewed two documents
prior to preparing this report. One is the affidavit
of Rose Wallington sworn April 6, 2002.

A. That's correct, I reviewed her
affidavit, and which was done originally and then the
Teranet report in 2008.

Q. Yes. And you also say you have
consulted with various members of your staff in your
Port Colborne and Welland offices. How many people did
you consult with

A. All of them as well as going
through my MLS becomes as part of my job, managing the
office, and in selling and listing in Port Colborne, I
have to know what the sales are in particular
neighbourhoods and I keep track of what is going on in
each neighbourhood to see if there are trends develop
asking things like that. That's also the input I have.

And I get that feedback in a lot of
cases from my salespeople if they see trends going on,
and market data I track market share, individual
production for recruiting purposes. So I'm in and out
of the MLS catalogue quite often.

Q. As part of your job?

A. As part of the managing part of the
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job, vyes.

0. And if you could for his Honour
just briefly describe the state of the Port Colborne
real estate market prior to the year 2000 in terms of
sales volume, et cetera.

A. In any particular area or Port

Colborne, well Port Colborne as a whole.

Q. Let me clarify the question
question. Port Colborne as a whole, prior to 2000.
A. Port Colborne as a whole basically

within various small changes, plus and minus, ran
fairly level all through the late 90's, and was a
slight incline but nothing great. I think the average
prices might have gone from 93 to a hundred over a four
year period. And the number of transactions was fairly
steady at that time.

0. Ninety-three to a hundred is a
fairly gentle increase.

A. Hmm, from —-- in all the whole
period in the late 90 was just a gentle increase, yes.

0. And how with would you contrast
that with what well was doing at roughly the same time?

A. Welland was, is practically
flatlined, dead heat. Both of them had a small

escalation and it ran the same way as Port Colborne
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did.

Q. You are doing a motion with your
hand there, showing, which I can't show on the record
but it's -- a gentle upward slope; is that fair?

A. Yeah, it's just over —-- it's a plus
over a five year period say but it's not a great --
there's no great changes and there's little
fluctuations in that five year period.

0. And what about Fort Erie during
that same time period?

A. Again, the numbers and I don't
track Fort Erie as closely as I do Welland and Port
Colborne for market share and that, so I would have to
go just on the reports that come out of either CREA or
the Niagara Association of Relators. Actually before
the year 2000 it was Fort Erie was in the Niagara Falls

Fort Erie Real Estate Board which had their own set of

information but to my recollection -- recollection it
was sort of the same gentle increase. There was
nothing really going on in any of those markets. They

were all parallelling each other.

Q. All right. Thank you.

We'll get to the potential reasons as to
other events later on, but more specific, beginning in

2000, and again talking about Port Colborne as a whole,
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what did you start to see in terms of the performance
of the market?

A. In the late 2000 it looked —-- there
appeared to be a bit of a dip starting to happen. It
wasn't, wasn't a big one but you could see that there
was —-—- we passed a crest from that line that was going
on for five years. And that drop continued to 2001,
2002. Started to reverse toward the end of 2003, and
in® 2004, the Ontario market, the Niagara market and,
the Port Colborne market all in tandem started their
escalation at that point in time.

Q. This dip that you referred to, did
you see the same dip in the Welland market in that

2000, 2000 to 2004 period?

A. No, we did not, sir.
Q. And just honing in on the Rodney
Street area —-- well perhaps I will phrase it

differently. Was the dip that you have just referred
to more pronounced in any particular part of Port
Colborne and if you could again just use those four
group that's talked about and tell us about the dip, if
any, in those groups.

A. I track Port Colborne under four
different areas. Port Colborne west at had a marginal

dip during that three to four year period that we're
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discussing.

Q. Yes.

A. Port Colborne rural east which took
into account a lot of the lake front property, hobby
farms, the bigger properties in the rural areas of east
Port Colborne, a slight dip, slight change. Port
Colborne east urban area, which would be everything
along Killaly Street, East Main Street. Those are the
the two east west corridors and then in between the
infull streets, that one took a noticeable or more
noticeable dip than the Port Colborne west and the
rural east.

And then if we get to the last area that
we keep track of, which is the Rodney Street area,
which is an area bound by Lake Erie to the south,
welcome the Welland canal to the west, the railway
tracks to the north, and basically the Inco plant to
the east, that area took a very noticeable and large
dip, especially late 2000, 2001 to 2002, followed the
similar trend of coming back a little bit from that
large dip in 2003.

Q. Now, in your report beginning at
paragraph 9 you talk and how historically houses in
west Port Colborne have always sold for higher prices.

Why is that?
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A. It's sort of a -—— I guess we can
call it a rhyme that goes back to grade school and even
in highschool, east is least, west is best. I think it
was just a sort of a way of thinking of a lot of the
local people. They would prefer to live on the west
side. It's —-- it's true in Welland and it is true in
Port Colborne and you will notice that most of the
industrial areas in both of those cities is on the east
side of the canal. And that was one of the other

factors that we would have to be worked.

Q. That was going to be my next
question. What's the dividing line between east and
west?

A. The Welland canal.

0. And in terms of the distinction,

which I don't believe had been previously made in this
case, would you say the -- sticking with the east side
of Port Colborne, would you see the rural part of the
east part of Port Colborne as being more similar to the
west part of Port Colborne, in terms of prices, or more
similar to Rodney Street?

A. Definitely more similar to the west
side of Port Colborne.

0. And would the prices in the east

side of Port Colborne, what you call the east Port
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Colborne urban, but leaving out Rodney Street be closer
in prices to the Rodney Street area or to the rural
east side and the west side?

A. In terms of prices, it's probably
somewhere in between Rodney and the rural east side
which then by my class offices means the west side of
Port Colborne as well.

0. Yes. So the east side of Port
Colborne at least according to what you have just said,
has these three distinct areas on thing after prices,
each area, no matter we're we look has an average price
for that area. And that's one of the ways I delineate
areas and the average prices are different in those
three areas quite substantially in many cases.

Q. All right. ©Now you mentioned that
in 2004, I believe, in Port Colborne and Welland there

was a recovery in the market, in the prices?

A. I would say the market took off.
Q. Yes.

A. Not just here.

Q. Right.

A. I mean it was everywhere, but it

was a watershed year in our office, and in the board
for the number of transactions that were done in any

one year. 2004 was the take off year.
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0. You are familiar I presume with the
concept of a working class neighbourhood, common
phrase?

A, Yes.

0. And of the areas that we've been
describing in Port Colborne, which parts of Port
Colborne would you apply that phrase to?

A. Well there's both both Rodney
Street and Port Colborne urban east would be working
class areas. The housing stock in port east, as
demonstrated by the average price, is a little more
modern. A little more what people want whereas the
Rodney Street is definitely working class area. It
evolved are from a large industrial base just like
Welland has those areas, most cities do, where they
work to work back in the 20's, 30's, 50's, 40's,
and brought in family that immigrated from Europe or
whatever and he had moved in the larger houses and a
lot of that housing stock became duplexes over time,
from that reason it was just an evolution that happened
in the working class neighbourhood in Rodney Street
would be the extreme end of your working class, and
rural -- or urban east would be the next generation of
working class neighbourhood if we can call it that.

Q. All right. Thank you. If you
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could turn to paragraph 12 of your report, if you could
just take a moment to read to yourself paragraphs 12
and 13.

A, Yes.

Q. And you say in there that your oh
of those findings remain consistent, that's referring
to Rose Wallington's report, those findings remain
consistent with my own observations of the market and

those of my staff in our Port Colborne office who I

have consulted with. Do you see that?
A. Yes, I do.
Q. Is that still your view today?
A. Yes, it is. I think that charts

that rose wellington had in his affidavit shows exactly
what I been talking about or demonstrates that it does,
the market took a most severe dip in the Rodney Street
area, a less severe area in the east part of Port
Colborne. She has lumped rural and urban together but
the dip is still there it's less noticeable in the Port
Colborne west area. Now you then say, in paragraph —--
after taking about the Teranet find, you say in
paragraph 17:
"To the best of my and my staff's
knowledge, the only major event that has

taken place in Port Colborne's real
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estate market since 1997 is the

announcement of contamination in the

Rodney Street area.™

A. That would be the only major even
that I could think of, yes.

Q. This was your view in February 2000
and 8 when you prepared this report?

A. It was my view in 2002, 2005, 2008,
and today, 2009.

0. Thank you.

You then go on to say in paragraph 18

that:

"Especially in the Rodney Street area,
interest in properties has been and
continues to be very limited.™
Let's just deal with these in bite-sized

pieces. What do you mean when you say interest in

properties in that area has been and continues to be
very limited?

A. I go by the number of transactions
in the 2001 to 2004 period. There's a noticeable drop
from the late '90s and it comes back, volume of
transactions does actually start to increase in the
Rodney Street area 2005 on. Back into what it would be

normal volume for the number of houses in the area.
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0. You then say: "Offers and sales
have been slow." Can you describe what you mean by
that.

A. Specifically I was referring to the
2000 -- late 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 period.

Q. And when you say they were slow,

how slow were they?

A. Well the late, 1990s —-- not
1900s, late 1990s, 12 to 15 transactions would be
normal in the Rodney Street area. If memory serves me
correctly, they have dropped to 4, 5, 6 and 7 in the
mid, early 2000. And then they go back to that 10, 12,
14 range in I think one year even went as high as 20 in
2007. So that's what I'm talking about is the number
of transactions.

Q. And you say in the same paragraph:
"And in some cases owners who wish" -- and there you
are talking about past, "wish to sell have not even
been listing properties in recognition of the fact that
they likelihood to located a willing buyer for a
reasonable price is low."

Can you just expand on that a bit.

A. There's a lot of people that would
need the equity out of their house in order to move to

another neighbourhood or someone else in. The fact
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that they couldn't get it out of the house, with the
30 percent drop say in the Rodney Street area,
precluded them from buying or upgrading to a house on
the west side or going, moving out to the country,
whatever their desires are. So rather than do —-
rather than sell it and take on a bigger mortgage by
moving they just decided to stay put.

Q. Paragraph 19, you say that you have
observed as have your agents that in addition to
affecting property sales and prices, which we've talked
about, the availability to find suitable mortgage
financing has been affected. What do you mean by that?

A. During the 2001, 2002, 2003 period
probably I would say approximately 2001, 2002 because I
think it started to change already in 2003, the
mortgage companies in the banks said there were money
available but it seemed you had to have to draw —-- run
or jump through hoops in order to get it together if it
was in certain areas of town.

0. And where did more of the hoop
Jumping take place?

A. I can recall conversations with
salespeople about Christmas Street, Fares Street, and
that's the Rodney end of Fares Street because it also

runs in Fares Street straddles two areas. So you have
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to really watch the house numbers in that case.

South of Killaly Street would probably
be a generalization that we would say would be true.

Q. You then go on to say that:

", from my direct experience,
particularly in the commercial real
estate market Port Colborne has

effectively been 'black listed' by major

financial institutions.”

A. When I --

Q. What do you mean by that?

A. That's what I call the tightening
of the recent -- of the requirements compared to other
areas in town. They are not allowed to do that. They

said they didn't do that, but I believe the reality,
the perception of people was that -- and the
salespeople in particular -- that it was going to be
much harder to put a deal together for financing, to
meet the financing condition in an offer in the area
south of the Killaly Street, in particular Rodney area,
than in other areas of Port Colborne.

To me, that —-- in the States I believe
they call it red lining. I call it black listing.
It's something that we observed happening. We had to

call our MP in order to intervene with CMHC a couple of
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times on offers just to say, why is —-- all of a sudden
this postal code is a little tougher than it used to
be?

0. You then say the last sentence on
paragraph 19, which is over the page:

"T am advised by members of my staff

that they have observed similar

difficulties in the residential housing
market."

A. That's correct. For me in the
residential area was that Killaly Street, or south of
Killaly to the lake which is Bell Street, Christmas
Street, Fares, Davis, all those different streets in
that area.

Q. You mentioned in paragraph 20 that
some of the properties in the Rodney Street area are
rental units, and what did you observe with respect to
that in the 2000, 2001, 2002 time period?

THE COURT: Just a second.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: Your Honour, rental
units are not part of the class. I don't know that
that's relevant to anything we have before us today.

THE COURT: How is that relevant?

MR. BAERT: Well, your Honour, the class

is defined as owners of residential from September 20,
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2000 and on; it's not defined as owners of residential
properties who live there themselves. If a person
owned a house and used to rent it and can't because of
the problems that we have been discussing in this
action, then, in my respectful submission, that would
be reflected in the wvalue ultimately. So in my
submission it is relevant because if you can't rent
something, it's going to effect the wvalue. It's in his
report. It's the first objection I have heard to it.

THE COURT: I don't have a definition of
class in front of me.

MR. BAERT: It would be in the trial
record. And in the --

THE COURT: That doesn't help me,
because I don't have the trial record.

MR. BAERT: I will read it to you or
hand you my copy. The order of Justice Cullity, this
is the revised one, paragraph 7 -- tab 6, paragraph 7
all persons owning residential properties since
September 20, 2000. Tab 6, paragraph 7.

THE COURT: I've got that. Okay.

Mr. Lowenstein?

MR. LOWENSTEIN: Yes, your Honour but my

friends have told us in clear correspondence their case

is limited to single family detached houses. So 1if we
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are going to talk about single family detached houses,
I guess I will have no concern, but if we are going to
be talking about multiple unit or houses made into
apartments, et cetera, then it's very clear from the
history between us that that is not part of the claim.

MR. BAERT: I can assist my friend
there. I simply —-

THE COURT: I will allow the question.

Go ahead.

BY MR. BAERT:

Q. Thank you. Mr. Berkhout, you have
heard the exchange, briefly. Did you observe any

change in the market for rental units that were
residential properties in the Rodney Street area during
this time period?

A. The majority of rental units in the
Rodney Street area are actually old houses that have
been divided, prezoning by-laws, into duplexes or in
some cases a triplex. Many of which aren't rented out.
It was there originally to sustain a large family, and
get their feet on the ground as immigrants, and the
kitchen was never taken out, so it was still maintained
as a duplex.

Duplexes also have a highest and best

use as far as I'm concerned value wise, returning it
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back to a single family home, they were impacted the

same way as the single family homes were in that area,

vacancies were higher and harder to rent out. It
just —-- they follow a hand and foot in that one.
Q. Finally, in paragraph 20 you note

the fact that there were powers of sale is another

indication of a declining market. What do you mean by
that?

A. Well a power of sale is where
either the bank or the —-- well let's just call it the

mortgagee takes back the property, becomes in
possession of it and tries to sell it in order to cover
the financing that's against it.

Why do people walk away from housing?
There's a variety of reasons. It could be income, loss
of a job. It could be the fact that wvalues have
dropped to such an extent they cannot redeem the
mortgage is on there. If they bought a house in 1998
for —- in the Rodney Street area, and got 95 percent
financing at that time, and the market drops
30 percent, in the 2001, 2, 3 period and they want to
sell in 2002, unless they are going to dig in their
pocket. We have said this is a working class area, so
they normally don't have funds to dig in their pocket.

They walk. There's no equity left to try and preserve
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by selling it themselves.

Q. Thank you. Sir, I'm showing you a
memorandum dated February 15, 2000.

A. Yes, i1t's a report.

Q. Sorry, Jjust one moment. Did you
prepare this memorandum?

A. Yes, I did.

0. Could we mark that as Exhibit 317

THE COURT: You have seen this, eh take
it Mr. Lowenstein.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: Yes.

THE COURT: Next exhibit will be the
memorandum of Mr. Berkhout to all board members
February 15, 2000.

EXHIBIT NO. 31: Memorandum of Mr.

Berkhout dated Feb. 15/2000

BY MR. BAERT:

Q. Now, your Honour, you will see it's
a three page document and the last page is a map. And
what I'm going to hand up is the same map but in course
colour which I will ask the witness to confirm, what
I'm about and to hand him is exactly what was attached
originally, but just has gone to black and white. It's
actually the same map that's on the large diagram.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: Your Honour I note for
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the record that this, this map is not attached to the
version I have seen, but that's fine.

THE COURT: Just let me look at it
before the witness does.

THE REGISTRAR: Sure.

THE COURT: There's a concern about
this, Mr. Lowenstein?

MR. LOWENSTEIN: No, your Honour. Ms.
Fric tells me there's a black and white version in the
discovery exhibits, so I'm fine.

THE COURT: All right. Let the witness
look at it.

BY MR. BAERT:

0. So what I will do is, in order to
have it bye-bye marked properly perhaps we could ask
the witness if Mr. Berkhout, if you look at this
coloured map, the coloured map the same map that you
originally had attached as the last page to Exhibit 31.

A. That's correct. Page 92 of 98.

Q. Yes, that page 92 of 98 on the
bottom right is coming from where?

A. That's from the phytotoxicologist
report. I knew I was going to screw that up. The
phytotoxicologist report that was circulated to the

real estate industry in 2000.
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Q. Thank you. Now, sir, how did you
come to prepare this February 15 -- 2000 memorandum?
A. In late January or early February

I, on behalf of Re/Max and two other relators on behalf
of other offices, there are three real estate offices
in Port Colborne, were invited by the mayor to come to
a meeting to deal with and receive information about

the disclosures that came out of the phytotoxicologist

report.

Q. Where does this meeting take place?

A. This meeting was at city hall in
Port Colborne.

Q. And how many agents and brokes
attended?

A. This initial meeting with where

this mapping came from, there was only representative
from each of the three offices at that meet.

0. Then was there a meeting after that
of a larger group?

A. From this information, I had called
a meeting of the board members, particularly the people
that work out of offices in the Welland and Port
Colborne area, though we did invite other offices from
other cities to come to a meeting on East Main Street

at the Club Social in order to give them a copy of this
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map. This is the first time that we, as an industry,
had ever seen the extent and the degree put on paper
that we could look at and deal with. I wanted this
information passed on to everyone in the real estate
board so that they could -- just deal with it as they
wished in their offices.

0. Now you mention in the second
paragraph that initially the information is sketchy.
What did you mean by that, in February 20007 What was
sketchy?

A. There was a variety of things that
were sketchy at that time. Most real estate people are
familiar with minimum standards with the Ministry of
environment. Most salespeople have a working knowledge
of it, but that's about it. It's the CBRA was
announced during this particular time period. It's the
first time I had ever heard of a CBRA, and all the
implications and the studies and everything that were
going to be going with it, and wanted to know how it
was going to effect values in Welland Port Colborne,
everywhere and how it is going to allow us to conduct
our business in a way that yes could keep the public
informed on any transactions we were involved with.

A. Back to your question, maybe I

didn't get into why it was sketchy.
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It's all new, it was coming out fast and
and furious. And were terms that I had can took me a
week and a half to learn how to say that I could tell
somebody else what it was.

0. And was this map, which I think we
have established that was originally in at the time you
were handing it out to 120 people?

A. We Z colour coper and I made how
many hundred coloured copes found each sales man I
accepted to be on the meeting and was attached to the
one or two pages that I had written up as attachment to
this.

0. Could we mark the coloured version
as Exhibit 327

THE COURT: Coloured version as Exhibit

32.
THE REGISTRAR: Exhibit 32.
EXHIBIT NO. 32: Coloured version of map
BY MR. BAERT:
0. Hold on to that for a minute,
Mr. Berkhout. ©Now just because we have now a map in

front of us, if I digress for a moment when you were
talking about Port Colborne east rural, if you look at
this map could you tell his Honour in terms of focusing

on colours, is Port Colborne rural is where?
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A. Well there is a cross how much you
can, if you are familiar with the streets you can tell
where the cross hatching which is the end of Christmas
Street and Bell Street, it would be sort of centre of
the purple area I guess we will call it.

0. Yes, that's what?

A. That would be the extent of the
urban east Port Colborne.

0. Okay.

A. Beyond that, we are into the rural
east Port Colborne.

Q. Okay. And i1f you look at this map
and you can see the well canal that big strip down the

centre, the west side would that, the area that's in

yellow to —-- just to the west of the canal?
A. There's one section of orangey red.
Q. Yes.
A. The rest is either white or yellow
on —-—- or very pale yellow if you go to the top of the V

on the top of the canal where they split.

Q. Yes. ©Now you mention in your memo
after discussing the parts per million issue that there
appear to be four problems and the first one what you
say 1s, vendor disclosures must be completed to include

applicable information. Existing disclosures must be
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commended and signed by vendors. Do you see that?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I'm going to show you a document.

If you could identify for his Honour what is this?

A. This is a form that the Ontario
real estate association, came out with in the mid to
late 90's.

Q. Yes.

A. And basically it originally the
seller is supposed to check off, now they have to
initial each category, and it's called a vendor
disclosure, seller property information sheet. And
quite often you will hear the word SPIS which is an
abbreviation of the name. And it asks the owner a
variety of questions.

Q. It looks like a photocopying
malfunction because if you look at this, sir, in my

copy it's the --

A. Third page.
0. Should have a section entitled
environmental. In there which now appears to be

missing because only the front of page 1 was
photocopied not the back.
A. Right.

0. So let's just deal with it this
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way. I think we will be able for fix it at some point.

Is there a section enentitled
environmental on this disclosure statement?

A. This is normally a three-page
document, page one of three is a general description of
the area. And the ownership issues of the house. Page
2 of three would have the questions regarding are there
any environmental concerns. And question 3 is more —-—
orb page 3 in the third section has to do with
structural for the house itself.

0. And in this, what did you want
people to do or agents to do under point number 1 with
respect to the filling out of this form that was
different than before?

A. Prior to the industry receiving
that coloured copy showing or extrapolating these
samples and making levels of nickel parts per million
the environmental section we would go through it, and I
would say that they would never have filled in
regarding nickel in Port Colborne. It would have been
filled in if it was, if they had a site specific
assessment done, it might have been filled in. It's to
disclose information that the seller knows that should
be passed on to the next one. So I recommended to the

salespeople that they would have to go back, and now
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that we had a known entity, which we never had before,
fill in that there are concerns of environmental nickel
contamination in the City of Port Colborne.

Q. And did that begin to happen in
real life?

A. I would say it probably the
majority of salespeople faithfully did it. Our office
it's mandatory. Unless it's an estate. Or -- or power
of sale in which case the bank obviously will not
warrant or say what anything they. Are you buying it
as is. Other than that we want this form filled out
and want it on file with the listing. It is up to the
buyer agent to request one. After he is going to
present an offer on the house.

Q. Then in point number 2, you said
that you were recommending that a notice should be
insert in the body of the offer. Allowing for a
condition, so that the purchaser purchase lawyer could
further investigation investigate and and satisfy
themselves. Did that recommend get followed?

A. I had drafted two Clauses on the
following page which one is a condition, one is not a
condition. It's more of a statement. And it's an
acknowledgment by either the buyer or seller, or both

that they are aware or have beware through any
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information we have given to them that there is a
possible nickel contamination problem in the City of
Port Colborne.

Q. And those two paragraphs are you
drafted are on the next page, under the heading "all
salespeople use one of" is what you were referring to?

A. That was my recommendation to them,
yes.

Q. All right. And you say in point 3,
tell till the MOE amends the guidelines the level of
200 parts per million is the standard financing or
closings may be affected namely a site specific risk
assessment may be required, et cetera.

I know have the page from the —-- if I
could ask that we could mark the property information
statement and that we insert it new page, if we could
get the witness —-

THE COURT: Let's give it a try and all
taken back and properly put together before we mark
anything.

THE COURT: We will take our recess now
and come back in 15 minutes and hopefully we have got
that in order.

——— Recess taken at 3:17 p.m.

—-—-— Resuming at 3:35 p.m.
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MR. BAERT: Mr. Registar, did you give
the witness back the stapled version.

THE REGISTRAR: I have not.

MR. BAERT: Okay. Thank you.

BY MR. BAERT:

0. Mr. Berkhout, could you now he have
fixed the document could you identify it as the proper
version of the seller property information statement
that you were referring to in your memo of February 15,
20007

A. All three pages of form 220 are
here, yes.

0. Can we mark that as Exhibit 32,
please.

THE REGISTRAR: Thirty-three.

MR. BAERT: Thirty-three.

THE COURT: Exhibit 33 will be the
seller property information statement.

THE REGISTRAR: Thank you, your Honour.

EXHIBIT NO. 33: Seller property

information statement

BY MR. BAERT:

Q. Now, sir, just looking at your memo
of February 15, do you still have that in front of you?

A. No the gentlemen with the red pen
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has got it.

THE REGISTRAR: Sorry.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

BY MR. BAERT:

0. You neck in item 3 on there, now
who pays for the study in remedial work, why was that a
concern?

A. That was more into the financing
site specific if you had to have soil testifying done
in order to get your financing there was a cost
involved. And there could be wvarious costs involved.
Inco had indicated that they were going to do remedial
work but that was still an unknown at that point in
time. So those are all factors that would go into sale
price of a property.

Q. And why would they go in the sale
price of a property?

A. Well the remediated property is
going to be worth more than non-remediated property.
If there is cost involved who is going to pay for the
sall testing if it is required for the financing
company and the bang more than likely wasn't going to
pay the 3,000 plus dollars to have soil testing done.

Q. Now, you say in this memo, just to

conclude, that the information scratchy as of
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February 15, 2000. Do you see that on the first page?

A, Yes.

Q. Second paragraph. Did it ever
become less sketchy?

A. Well the CBRA did come into
fruition over the course of the year 2000, and this
memo came in out in February of 2000, so that slowly
became on and on. There were reports about what was
going on with the CBRA, and the local paper and mayor
had copied and said he would photocopy various
information came out from different hearings.

There was information that came out from
the, a letter to Mr. Hirman (ph.) from MPAC and all
these different things. The information started
coalescing a little bit more. Toward the end of 2000
we also had some site-specific work had been done. And
all of a sudden the information that was on this
report, and then, you know, I guess sketchy ended up
being a pretty good word because the levels that came
out from actual site testing later on, understand from
the newspaper and word around stead of the highest
being $5,000 parts per million now we were talking in
the tens of thousands ppm. Which to my mind is more
detail it's more -- it's such a high level that it was

scary.
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Q. Those are all my questions. Thank
you.

THE COURT: Mr. Lowenstein, I know you
had told me you would finish by about 4:assuming
Mr. Baert was done by three o'clock. How do we stand
now.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: Your Honour, I think I
said I would not likely finish today, but if it spilled
over probably not by more than an hour on when we
resume. And I think that's likely about right, an
hour, hour and a half spill over. I felt roughly about
an hour today.

THE COURT: I said yesterday that I did
not want to leapfrog witnesses and I'm still not going
to leapfrog witnesses. So I know we are not sitting
tomorrow but we will be sitting again Monday morning
and assuming Mr. Berkhout is not finished today then I
would like Mr. Berkhout to continue on Monday morning.
Let me ask you, sir, I hate to put you in this
position. Can you be back here 10:00 Monday morning?

THE WITNESS: I will arrange my schedule
such that I will be back here at 10:00 on Monday
morning, sir.

THE COURT: I appreciate that. So

Mr. Lowenstein, I will give you the options sincie it
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is your cross-examination. Some counsel are
comfortable with breaking a cross and others run. You
can start today, and we will finish around, somewhere
around 4:30 and pick it up Monday morning or I will let
you start 10:00.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: I will start to 10:00
morning. But I am willing, speaking for our side, if
it would be of assistance to sit tomorrow to do it.

THE COURT: It -- we can't do that now.
So there's your choices. You can split the cross now
or you could start on Monday morning.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: I would prefer to start
Monday morning and if people are amenable to start a
bit early, I'm in your hands on that.

THE COURT: We are going to start at ten
o'clock Monday morning.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: Thank you, your Honour.

THE COURT: Mr. Berkhout I will excuse
then until ten clock. We did try to avoid this. At
least I tried to avoid it.

THE WITNESS: I appreciate it.

THE COURT: We will be -- excuse you
until Monday morning at 10:00 then you will be cross
exmind so you can step down now.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.
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THE COURT: Before we adjourn, I was
going to talk to you about a couple of things.

First of all, Monday morning, I
indicated there was a possibility that this courtroom
might be used. I was 90 percent sure that would not be
a problem. As of this moment I'm probably 99 percent
sure. But I'm not 100 percent sure. So I would ask
that counsel call to the tribunal coordinator or
someone from your office call to the trial coordinator
tomorrow and hopefully we will know a hundred percent
by then. I don't think it's a problem. I won't even
tell you what the remedies are if it is a possible.
There are remedies let's hope we don't have to deal
with it. With respect to scheduling in January 2010, I
will start with two premises.

One, in a long trial such as this, it's

important for continuity to continue as close to

possible week to week to woke. I'm a big believer in
taking breaks, from time to time as you can tell. Long
breaks are difficult sometimes. We are going to break

December 1lth for at least until the new year. The
other premise is that my schedule somehow to fit in the
entire regional schedule and I don't by what magic I
fit into a regional schedule. I am told by the trial

coordinator that if I allow the break to go to January,
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the week of January 18th, which I would like to do to
accommodate everyone, we probably only have two weeks
so we have the week of January 18, and the week of
January 25th.

After the week of January 25th, I can't
say we won't be able to continue but there are a lot of
problems continuing. So I am prepared to do the
following. I am prepared to tentatively say we will
sit for two weeks in January, January 18, and
January 25th on the understanding we are going to
finish in those two weeks. I'm going to ask you on
December 1lth before we break, if you can guarantee me
that we will only need two weeks in January, if we need
a third week, I am afraid we will have to take the week
of January 11th I know it causes difficulty for
some people but in the big picture I don't think there
is any any other option. So you could make contingent
plans if you need to, but I need an answer to the
question of how long is this going to take definitely
on December 1lth. And we will adjust accordingly.
Right now, temptively we will take the two weeks of
January 18, to and January 25th seeing what I see I
think it's very do-able and I know all counsel will
agree with that, so let's just try to stay on track.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: One observation I might
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make, your Honour, I am moving heaven and earth to move
my schedule around to have this done. Is the week of
Dees 15 an option for your Honour?

THE COURT: ©Not now. I can tell you
soon we had discussions about scheduling, and how it
was going to fit into my schedule, again the wonders of
regional scheduler are imposed on me. So right now we
have next week, but for the witness Remembrance Day,
then we have a week off the trial, week of November 16,
and I think we have three straight weeks on the trial.
And then we will have the two weeks in January. So
that will not be changed again if we need a third week
in January I think it has to be the week of January 11.
I don't think we can do much about that.

I appreciate etch's moving their
schedules. It's why it is better to at least know as
far as in advance as possible.

MR. LOWENSTEIN: Your Honour, one other
thing of housekeeping, are we permitted to occupy the
courtroom like this tomorrow? And with a minute of
even a one percent on Monday, does that cause
administrative difficulty to —-

THE COURT: ©Not from my point of view.
We can check -- you should check with the coordinator

to make sure. I don't think it's a problem. I
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recognize all of you your material is in here and
easier to access it. I don't think it's a problem.
But please double-check with the trial coordinator, it
may be we simply have to have someone unlock the door
for you. I don't pretend to know how that works. At
ministry. But i1f you talk to the trial coordinator she
will tell that you.

All right. I will see you 10 a.m.
Monday morning

—-—— Off the record at 3:48 p.m.
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